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Introduction

The earliest memory | have is of me fainting when | was three and a half, right
after we had gotten home from the hospital after my third heart surgery. | was sitting in
my highchair watching PBS Kids and my mom was in the kitchen. | started to call out for
her and then shut my eyes. | don’t remember what happened next but my parents said
they called an ambulance and rushed me back to the hospital. As you'll find out reading
this, I've spent a lot of time in hospitals but that’s not the only thing that makes me
unique.

While I just described myself as unique, | normally prefer to use another term —
weird. I've gotten to have a variety of experiences that the average kid has not, so | am
proud of my weirdness. | had an enjoyable childhood that was atypical for reasons such
as my schooling, health issues and close relationships. Some people might not like
being called atypical, unique and weird but | am glad that | am these things because
these words help make me who | am.

Many of my experiences have also made me who | am and relate to what | love
to do. One of the things I've had the most fun doing is acting. | love all my acting
classes which have taught me how to be a more open/less shy person and how to
understand my emotions on a deeper level. My love of theatre continues to grow
whether I'm acting on stage, in the audience or behind the scenes doing tech or
ushering and greeting. | feel fortunate to have had these experiences despite having

spent so much time in the hospital.



While the hospital time might make some people angry or depressed, it's had the
opposite effect on me. | love and appreciate life. | love my church family and all the
activities |1 do with them. | love my parents and love that they homeschooled/unschooled
me. | love that | am able to be an out and proud asexual lesbian. | love the friends I've
made in acting classes, through homeschooling/unschooling and at Hope With Heart.
Most of all, I love that | am alive and able to enjoy life.

It hasn'’t all been good, I've had my share of losses. While everyone loses
grandparents and pets, it's much more difficult to lose a nineteen year old friend. Even
still, all of my exposure to death and health challenges has only helped me to be a
stronger person who appreciates life. Also what sets me apart from most people is that |
have come close to not being on earth so | am especially grateful and thankful for every
day.

Now as a twenty-one year old, | look back on my experiences as fond memories,
some are great ones that | mention a lot and some not so great. Overall | am thankful
for all of these experiences. | look forward to having more great experiences, some of
which | hope will lead me on the path to becoming a professional musician like my

parents and a professional actress one day.



Heart Condition

Hi, I'm Parlin and I've died twice (beat) | know what you’re probably thinking,
what? No! Seriously? Yes it’s true | have.

The first time was when | was nine days old, my heart stopped and | stopped
breathing and the second time was when | was two years old during a catheterization
when they went through the right side of my chest to the left side and my heart stopped
and | stopped breathing.

A catheterization is a tube that has a balloon-like thing and a camera on the end
that usually goes through your leg. Also, in an earlier catheterization where they went
through my leg like they normally do, the main artery in my right leg collapsed and the
smaller arteries grew around it. That’s why I’'m so short and why when | was two years
old they went through the right side of my chest instead of going through my leg.

Now you’re probably wondering why this happened and why | needed
catheterizations.

It's because | was born with Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome (HLHS) which
means that | have half a heart; | only have one atrium and one ventricle. The left side of
my heart never developed so | only have the right side. | have had three open heart
surgeries; the first surgery was when | was two weeks old.

I've also had four eye surgeries to fix my lazy eye. In the first surgery they moved
the wrong muscle so they had to do three other surgeries to fix it. This resulted in me
needing glasses and not having stereo vision so | can’t look at one thing with both eyes

at the same time but | can look at two different things with each eye at the same time.



For example, right now | am looking at my closet door with my left eye and my bedroom
door with my right eye.

| also have keloids on my scar which is a skin disease that some people get on
permanent scars. The keloids were getting really bad and starting to hurt a lot so |
chose to have an eighth surgery. In 2019 | had a surgery and three days of radiation to
try to get rid of my keloids. The surgery didn’t totally work because | still have keloids
but my scar looks a lot better than it did when | was younger.

| also basically don’t have an immune system so | get immunoglobulins
subcutaneously (Sub Q) every two weeks. Immunoglobulins is the medicine | get so that
my immune system works like another person’s normal immune system.
Subcutaneously means that | get it at home every two weeks through a syringe with four
little needles that go into my stomach and | switch the side they go in each time, vs at
the hospital once a month through an IV.

| also have a rare chromosomal anomaly called Jacobsen syndrome which
means that 3.5% of the tail of my chromosome 11 are missing. This may not seem like
a lot because 35 genes out of 20,000 genes in the tail isn’t much. Still, Jacobsen
syndrome is why | have all of my other medical conditions and why | have some
cognitive issues.

So that’s me, a girl who has had eight surgeries, has half a heart, basically

doesn’t have an immune system, has a rare chromosomal anomaly and has died twice.



My Parents

My parents are my mom, Lyell and my dad, Doug.

Mom was born in Morristown, NJ and lived in Mendham, NJ with her parents,
Patricia and Tillman, her older brother, Scott and her older sisters, Kit-Bacon and Hunt.
They lived in Mendham, NJ until Mom was four, moved to Baltimore, MD until she was
eleven, returned to Long Valley, NJ where they lived until the summer before her senior
year of high school when they moved to Atlantic Highlands on the Jersey shore. Mom
went through four school systems and did not enjoy school. She grew up in a very
musical family and also did community theater with her father. Mom’s whole family
played instruments and sang together. While the kids did the typical folk tunes of the
‘60s, there was a strong jazz influence from Mom’s jazz drumming father. When she
was seventeen, she returned from a choral tour through Europe and moved to Hoboken
to live and play in a rock band. After five years in the NY/NJ rock scene, Mom returned
to her jazz roots. She married a French chef in the late ‘80s and moved to St. John in
the US Virgin Islands where she immediately hooked into the music scene with the few
working jazz players. Mom left the chef in the Caribbean in 1994 and returned briefly to
Hoboken until she secured the first of two lofts she lived in, in downtown Newark, NJ.

Dad was born in Toms River, NJ and lived in Lanoka Harbor, NJ with his parents,
Anne and Sumner, his older brothers, Charlie and Steve and his older twin sisters, Lynn
and Kathy. When Dad was six months old his family moved to Eatontown where he
grew up. Dad grew up in a not very musical family, the musical people in Dad’s family

were him and his brothers. Dad went to Berklee College of Music and studied jazz



guitar. After college he traveled around doing jazz gigs including several years on cruise
ships. In 1992, Dad moved to New York where he worked as a jazz musician.

Dad first met Mom on a gig in Hoboken, NJ. They met because the piano player
Joe Ruddick couldn’t do the gig and the bass player Dave was Dad’s roommate. So,
Dave got Dad the job but Mom was not happy about it at first. Mom didn’t usually like
working with guitar players, but she really enjoyed working with Dad. They continued
working together. In 1997, she moved to a 12,000 square foot loft down the street from
her first loft. Mom turned the industrial loft into a raw yet artsy living space and Dad
moved in when | was on the way. | was born in the loft on December 2" 1999. It was
really cool and fun growing up in a giant old factory building. My baby swing was a car
seat hanging by a rope from a 13ft ceiling. Hide and seek games took hours in a 12,000
sq ft loft.

It turns out Mom and Dad actually met years earlier but didn’t know it. When
Mom was twenty-three she was the hostess at the Inkwell in Long Branch, NJ. Before
she got the job there, she broke her foot so she sat at the hostess’ desk with her foot
up. When Mom was working at the Inkwell, Dad was eighteen and a senior in high
school. He would go to the Inkwell with his friends to hang out. Dad and his friends
thought of Mom as the cute blonde hostess with a broken foot. Thirty years or so later
when Dad had a gig at the Inkwell, he and Mom figured out that Mom was the cute
blonde hostess with a broken foot back when Dad was eighteen.

Growing up with two professional musician parents gave me a huge love for

music!!! | love writing and playing music. | have written a whole album and two singles.



Since | was a little kid, Dad has been teaching me Piano and Mom sometimes helps
with the piano.

Growing up | would stay up late at Grandmother Bubbles’ (my mom’s mother’s)
house waiting for my parents to get home from their gig. Grandmother Bubbles’ name is
Patricia but everyone called her Bubbles because of her bubbly personality. Bubbles
moved in with us in 2008. From that point on we spent a lot of time together & | became
her babysitter when my parents were out (which wasn’t fun). Also, we would go to my
parents’ gigs together.

As | got older | started going to more and more of their gigs and now | go to
almost all of them when they perform together. Dad still does a fair amount of gigs but
not as many as he used to. In fact, Dad was on a gig and left early when | was 9 days
old the day | died. Mom doesn’t do that many gigs anymore as Jazz vocal gigs seem
harder to come by even before the pandemic.

Mom isn’t just a singer, she also paints houses and does construction work for a
living, she painted the house we live in and when | was little she worked at FIT (Fashion
Institute of Technology) in the museum, building sets for the fashion shows that
happened there. When Mom worked at FIT, Dad would take me to see Mom on her
lunch break so we could hang out with her and her co-workers. Dad also isn’t just a
guitar player. He teaches private guitar lessons and he is an adjunct professor at
Brookdale Community College, Monmouth University and Middlesex County College.

The first wedding | went to that | remember being at was my parents’ wedding on
Saturday August 15" 2009 (three days before Dad’s birthday). | wore a red and white

striped sleeveless dress with red fabric rosettes and a white headband with white and



red fabric rosettes. | was the ring bearer and one of eight flower girls. The flower girls
were four sets of sisters ranging in age from three-twelve. The youngest flower girls
were Taylor and Logan who are twins who live next door on the weekends with their
dads Sean and Don. The next flower girls were Ally (twelve years old) and Kathleen (six
years old). The next flower girls were Izzy (nine years old) and Luna (eight years old).
The last flower girls were me (nine years old) and my god sister Ella (twelve years old).
My parents got married on St. John's Island, the island that is on Sunset Lake in
Asbury Park. The flower girls, their moms, Sean, Don and my mom processed from my
house to the island singing “Chapel of Love” and we turned the lyrics to “going to the
island.” Singing was natural for us being a musical family with musical friends. There
was a gospel band playing on the other island near us and it was a very nice day out.
There were a lot of people there. Our friend Jack, who used to be the pastor of the
church | go to, came from Florida to officiate the wedding. | don’t remember a lot from

that day but the pictures on Facebook help remind me.



Church

The church | go to is UMCRB, which stands for United Methodist Church Of Red
Bank. My parents started going to UMCRB when my mom was pregnant with me.

While | was going through all of my medical stuff, my church was there to support
and pray for me and my parents. My family was on the prayer list at church, they were
praying that the surgeries went well and that | would survive the surgeries. My parents
felt really good about this and they believe in the power of prayer. | was too young to
remember this when | had my first seven surgeries.

As | grew up | learned how blessed | was. Because | was so happy that | was
saved, | wanted to give back to Mount Sinai. Mount Sinai is the hospital where | had my
first seven surgeries. So, when | was fourteen | did a fundraiser at church selling my
Perler Beads on Sunday December 7" and 14" 2014 for the Pediatric Cardiology
Department at Mount Sinai. | raised $600.

Another meaningful and awesome thing our church does, that I love being a part
of, is VBS. VBS stands for Vacation Bible School and it's a weeklong summer camp that
churches do. At our church anyone is welcome to come to and work at VBS regardless
of their religion. There is a theme every year and there are different stations that the
kids go to throughout the day. | know the names of the themes from 2004-now because
| have all of the CDs. The stations are: Music, which used to happen in the Chapel and
now it’s in the Sanctuary; Arts and Crafts, which is in room 114; Bible Stories, which has
moved around a lot: years ago it was in the lounge, then it moved to room 214 and now

it's in room 115; Recreation (rec), which is in the pastor’s backyard and Snack, which is



in Fellowship Hall. Aside from the stations there are two other roles in VBS. There are
the photographers/videographers who photograph and video everyone throughout the
week. They show the video on Friday night and in church the Sunday after in the
sanctuary. The most important role is the Head of VBS. Elaine (the director of youth and
young adult ministries) was the head of VBS before she retired from church and when
my friend Charlotte was twelve she became Elaine’s assistant head of VBS. Most of the
people who work in VBS are adults in the church whose kids are now adults and also
working in VBS. You can become a helper in VBS when you’re twelve years old.

You can start going to VBS when you’re four years old (two of my friends,
Deanna and Charlotte, were exceptions and started when they were three years old).
There are different groups in VBS when you’re a camper. This is how those groups
work: first you were in the kindergarten age group, then the first grade age group, then
the second grade age group, then the third grade age group and finally the fourth
through sixth grade age group. For two years in a row, they changed the groups a little
bit where the fourth through sixth grade age group became the fourth and fifth grade
age group and the sixth grade age group did things a little differently than the other
groups. | was lucky and in my last year as a camper | got to be in the sixth grade age
group when they did things a little differently than the other groups. What they did
differently was they did Arts and Crafts, Bible Stories and Snack in the basement (in the
Club 77 room). They still started in Fellowship Hall, went to Music in the Sanctuary,
Recreation (rec) which is in the pastor’s backyard and went to Fellowship Hall at the

end of the day to get picked up.



During VBS every group starts in Fellowship Hall for the day and Elaine does a
daily welcome. After the welcome each group goes off to a station. Every group goes to
every station separately except for snack time. In the middle of the day every group
goes back to Fellowship Hall for snack time and then they go off to the stations they
haven’t gone to yet. At the end of the day every group goes to Music to practice the
songs they learned that day, then they go to Fellowship Hall to get picked up.

Every group learns music that they will perform for their parents, friends and
relatives who come on Friday night to see the video of the week and hear the songs.
Also, the kids from our church and some of the kids who don’t go to our church come
the Sunday after to perform some of the songs. They also show the video.

When you're in seventh grade and twelve years old you become a helper in VBS.
When you become a helper you can decide where you work. Whether that be as one of
the group helpers or it’s in one of the stations, you can work in VBS through adulthood
and when you’re a helper you eat snack in room 114. | started working in music in VBS
when | was twelve and | still love it!!! When | work in music, | help teach the kids the
songs and dance moves from the music videos. For this reason, my nickname is
“‘Dance Party Parlin.” But | didn’t work VBS in 2018 and | really regret that choice.

Mom started working in rec when | was five and Dad started working in bible
stories when | was six. My parents worked in VBS for many years. My dad even had a
nickname — Awesome Jesus. They stopped a few years after | started working in VBS.

When | was four | joined the Children’s Choir at church and | stayed in that Choir
until I was thirteen. There were many days in choir where | was the only kid who

showed up.



When | was thirteen | moved up to Wesley Singers. There is also an Adult Choir.
| don’t know if | will ever move up to the Adult Choir because | am still in Wesley
Singers. Now we’re called UMCRB’s Young Adult Choir and the Children’s Choir is now
called the Joy Choir and is for kids under thrid grade.

The Ice Cream Social is a night in Church where the choirs and any person or
group can sign up and perform songs. Each group and or person perform their songs in
the Sanctuary for the congregation and their friends. The kids are excited to perform for
their parents and siblings. Usually, almost the whole congregation attends. After the
performances, everyone goes to Fellowship Hall to eat Ice Cream, except for me
because | don't like sweets. So, | would usually bring Roasted Garlic Bagel Crisps or
White Cheddar Cheez-its. | really wish they would start doing the Ice Cream Social
again.

| care so much about this church that in 2013 | had Mom make a miniature
version of the church which was my Halloween costume. While trick or treating, | sang ‘I
am the church, you are the church, we are the church together” which is the chorus of
“We Are The Church” my favorite hymn.

A fun thing that is encouraged at church is to bring a friend. We call it BARF
(Bring A Real Friend). | used to bring so many friends (most of them a lot more than
once) that | got an award for being the biggest and best BARFer at church.

| started Sunday School when | was four and was in different Sunday School
classes until College. This is how they grouped classes: first you were in pre-k and
kindergarten, then first and second, third and fourth, fifth and sixth, seventh and eighth

(Junior High) and God Squad Sunday School (High School).
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When | was in the third and fourth grade Sunday School class, Mr. Jansky, our
Sunday School teacher, had us memorize the names of the first five books of the bible
and one Sunday he had us act out one of the bible stories.

When | was in High School Sunday School, | started working as an aid for one of
the younger Sunday School classes. Now the Sunday Schools are grouped differently.
This is how it works now: first you're in pre-k, then kindergarten through second, third
through fifth, sixth through eighth (Junior High) and Bagels and Faith (High School). For
a few years, I've been the aid in the third through fifth Sunday School. A month or so
ago, pastor Jess and Tammy (Tammy is the new woman who is the director of youth
and young adult ministries because Elaine retired last year) asked me to join the Adult
Ed class because they think it will be beneficial for me. It would be good to have more
young adults in that class and | shouldn’t be the aid in Sunday School anymore because
the Sunday School aids are supposed to be in High School. | tried it and Adult Ed isn’t
my thing.

| started Youth Group when | was in third grade and was in different Youth
Groups until College. When | was in Youth Group, this is how they worked: third through
fifth (Mustard Seeds), sixth through eighth (Club 77) (Junior High) and God Squad (High
School). Youth Group was on Wednesday nights.

In Club 77, we did an annual lock-in at church which was really fun!!! The thing
we do the most on the lock-ins is play manhunt but we can only play on the first floor.
My second year doing the lock-in when we were playing manhunt, | hid in a closet the

whole time and won the game! That same year while the others were playing manhunt, |
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walked around the church and scared two of my friends, coincidentally both named
Ryan.

My third year, | brought my hula hoops and did a hula hoop show for my friends.
For the hula hoop show, | used my light up hula hoop and performed to music on the
stage in Fellowship Hall. | messed up a little but that’s ok. One of my youth leaders
filmed it and the video is on Facebook!!!

In God Squad, there is a highlight event that they do which | wanted to do for as
long as | could remember. The event is a weeklong mission trip God Squad goes on
every summer organized by ASP (Appalachian Service Project) to fix and build houses
for the homeless. When | got to God Squad, | was so excited to finally go on mission.
It's great to help the unfortunate and mission is a great bonding experience.
Unfortunately, Elaine wouldn’t let me go on mission because she was too scared that
something might happen to me. So, Mom tried to be a volunteer in case something
happened. Also, Mom is one of the best people for it because she works in construction
and paints houses. They also had been asking her for years to go. | got a letter from my
cardiologist, Dr. Gelb, saying that it was perfectly fine for me to go. But, Elaine still
wouldn’t let me go because she was too afraid that | would get hurt or die.

The other things we did were the annual fall and winter retreats. We would go to
the Pocono’s for the retreats. The fall retreats were fun because we did team building
exercises and on the winter retreats we would go snow tubing. When we were at the
house we stayed in, we would play fun card games that one or two of us brought. The

retreats were a really great bonding experience.
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When | was sixteen, | had pneumonia. It started out as a pain in my shoulder and
then it grew to the rest of the left side of my body. | remember going to youth group on
Wednesday March 23 2016 with Mom, who was one of the cooks that night. When we
got to church, all of the youth groups had dinner in fellowship hall. Fellowship hall is a
big room with high ceilings, a stage and a kitchen next to it. During dinner, we sat in
metal folding chairs (the ones with a foam seat cushion like in a couch) at rectangular
folding tables. After dinner, each group went to their rooms in the church. The God
Squad room was in the basement. Before God Squad went downstairs we put away the
tables and chairs. When we got to our room we sat on the couches.

After God Squad (at around 10:00pm that night), my pain reached a ten, like from
those pain scales in the hospital. So, my parents took me to Jersey Shore Hospital. At
Jersey Shore, they said | had pneumonia and then transfered me in an ambulance to
Mount Sinai (my main hospital) in NYC, across the street from Central Park. | went to
Mount Sinai in case there was something wrong with my heart and it wasn'’t just
pneumonia. | stayed at Mount Sinai for a few days and one day when | was there,
Elaine from Church surprised me and my parents by visiting me. She came because
she was worried about me and had been surprised to hear from my youth group leaders
that | was sick. She was surprised because I'm really good at not showing that I'm in
pain (physical and or emotional). So, when one of my youth group leaders called her
after my parents called them, she drove all the way to New York to check on me. It was
just pneumonia so | didn’t have to stay at the hospital for very long but | was sick for a
few months. As | was recovering, Dad got strep throat which | then got from him, so |

was sick for even longer.
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When | was a senior in high school, | wanted to become the president of God
Squad. On Wednesday September 20t 2017, we had elections for the exec board of
God Squad. | read a speech | had prepared that told my friends why | would make a
good president of God Squad and | won! | was the president of God Squad for my
senior year!!! My friend Marie was the vice president. Marie died from signet ring colon
cancer on Saturday January 18t 2020, eleven days before her twentieth birthday. Marie
was adopted from China when she was a baby. Even though we grew up in church
together, | wish we could’ve gotten closer. Losing Marie has been the hardest loss for

me since Grandma Anne.
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Hope With Heart

When | was sixteen, my friend Fion (who also has a heart condition) told me
about a weeklong sleepover camp they go to for kids and teenagers with heart
conditions. Apparently, Dad told me about the camp when | was seven but | wasn’t
interested in it then. In 2016, | started going to Hope With Heart camp. It was fun at first.
| made a lot of friends and two of them have my heart condition! Unfortunately, | got in
trouble one day my second year there. On my third year in 2018, VBS changed dates
from June to August and | had to decide which camp to go to. | went to Hope With
Heart. | would have stayed home and done VBS but | had only been going to Hope With
Heart for two years.That was my last year as a camper at Hope With Heart. If | had
listened to my dad when | was seven | would have done VBS.

| tried to become a counselor at Hope With Heart in 2019 but they rejected me
because of my “inability to follow a strict schedule” and other reasons that | don’t
remember. The reasons didn’t make any sense because | have the abilities they were
talking about. | think they rejected me because | was newer to the camp and because of
the time | got in trouble (even though I technically didn’t do anything wrong). The thing |
got in trouble for is something that everyone does and talks about anyway.

The camp has a rule that you’re not supposed to date in camp or talk about
dating in camp. | think it's a stupid rule. How | got in trouble was by asking Fion about
their boyfriend but | didn’t use the word boyfriend.

| asked, “How’s Christian?”

15



Fion said, “He’s good, also | have a girlfriend named Jackie and she used to be
one of our old friends.”

The only other time | talked to Fion about it was when | asked, “When did Jackie
become Jackie?” and Fion didn’t know.

Then, | got sent to Alyssa (the camp director’s) office which was actually the

room where Alyssa slept and Alyssa said, “I heard that you talked to Fion about

their relationships.”

| replied, “Yes.”

Then Alyssa said, “You know you’re not allowed to talk about that in camp.”

| said, “I know.”

Then Alyssa told me that, “It made Fion uncomfortable and if | hear that you bring

it up again | will be sent you home.”

Then | promised not to bring it up again then she took me back to my group. After
camp that year | talked to Fion and they were fine with the conversation. They also
thought it was wrong that | got in trouble. Also, two of the counselors are engaged and
everyone at camp supports them. | think one of the counselors overheard our
conversations and turned me in. Alyssa was just enforcing the rule even though she

didn’t know exactly what happened.
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Homeschooling/Unschooling

When | was growing up, my parents homeschooled me because Mom hated
public school and because of my medical conditions. Homeschooling was fun at first. |
watched educational shows like Sesame Street and programs on PBS Kids and Nick Jr.
| learned a lot about math, English, science, archeology and how to be a good friend.

| sat at the dining room table and Mom taught me math and writing on paper. For
writing, | used lined paper to help me form letters and for math | used regular
construction paper. | also did work online using Brain Pop and Khan Academy.

After a while, | didn’t want to do schoolwork because | didn’t like doing the work. |
just wanted to see my friends and watch TV, both educational and non-educational. So
we started Unschooling which means you learn through life rather than through a
curriculum. For example, when you go to a museum you are learning things through
experiences and places rather than through a book, show or website.

During my time as a Homeschooler/Uuschooler | was in various homeschool 4-H
groups. The 4-H groups were art based groups and the last one | was in was called 4-H
Club da Vinci. | have friends from many homeschool 4-H groups, other homeschool
groups and homeschool bowling. Many of my homeschooler friends were in multiple
homeschool, 4-H and homeschool bowling groups throughout the years. | also went to
Good Sports with other homeschoolers and | took a swimming class with other
homeschoolers at the Atlantic Club.

When | was four, Mom was looking for a refrigerator on craigslist and when she

looked in the free section she saw a three year old yellow lab part chow dog named
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Chelsea in Queens, NY. She called the owners and said, “I'm going to bring my four
year old daughter to see your dog and if she likes the dog we’ll take her.” So, Mom and |
drive to Queens and Chelsea and | bonded really quickly.

When we get home, Dad sees that we have a dog instead of a refrigerator and
he says, “You went out to get a refrigerator and you came home with a dog!!! Does it
shoot ice cubes out of its butt or something?” Our friend Teri Orsburn used to call her
Chelsea Maytag.

Darius and Aurora (who are brother and sister) are my “bestest” and closest
friends. They live two blocks away from me in Asbury Park. Darius is two months and
twetny-two days younger than me and Aurora is three years, nine months and
seventeen days younger than me. I've known Darius since we were one and a half and
I've known Aurora for her whole life. Growing up, Aurora and | practically lived at each
other’s houses.

JSFS stands for Jersey Shore Free School and it’'s a “School” for homeschoolers
where kids go to hang out with their friends. There isn’t any traditional schooling going
on. It's based on the Sudbury Valley method of schooling which is often associated with
unschooling. It's a place for homeschoolers to hangout and learn through life that is
NOT free. It's now in Little Silver and when | went it was in Marlboro. When | went, | had
a lot of fun and made a lot of friends but | could only go for one semester because it
was so expensive. The parents of my friends Izzy and Luna that went helped pay for me
to go. Izzy, Luna and | started going to JSFS at the same time but we had been friends

through homeschooling long before we started going to JSFS.
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When | was going to JSFS, Mom was painting Izzy and Luna’s house and each
of our parents would take turns carpooling. One day when we got to Izzy and Luna’s
after JSFS, their front porch was messy because of the construction Mom was helping
them with. We started to go to the front door then Mom told us to go through the side
door. | stupidly ran to that door and tripped on a garbage bag full of wood. A little while
later (I don’t remember exactly how long after), | went to the doctor and discovered |
fractured my right ankle from the fall. So, | got a walking cast that looked like a boot and
was made of the same material as regular casts. At JSFS everyone signed my cast.

APFP stands for Asbury Park Free Play and it was just like JSFS except it was
completely free and it was at my house so we couldn’t call it a school. My closest
homeschool friends came to it and it was great. We would hang out at my house, play
games and make YouTube videos!!! It was also the prime time in my life from 2011-
2014 when | was eleven-fourteen years old. | mention APFP times a lot!!! There were
some bad times for me when my friends became my bullies but we’re all great friends
again. Towards the end of APFP it turned into a homeschool group where we actually
did schoolwork. Then it moved to Izzy and Luna’s house and ended a year later.

For the first few years in APFP times, the parents of some of my friends that
were in APFP started 4-H Club da Vinci and everyone in APFP attended. Some
homeschooler friends who didn’t come to APFP went to 4-H Club da Vinci. During
APFP times most of my friends in APFP and | started thinking about our sexualities.

In APFP times, the group of us that went to 4-H Club da Vinci and our friend
Jayden (who just went to 4-H Club da Vinci) would go to Darius and Aurora’s after 4-H

Club da Vinci and sleepover or just hang out there almost every week.
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In APFP times my friend Nat, his mom Marcelle and his stepdad Billy took me
and our friends Darius and Aurora on a road trip to Pennsylvania to visit Marcelle’s
mom. It was a really fun trip and my parents gave me a pay-as-you-go phone before we
left. On the way there, Nat and | were texting each other while we were in the cars
because the girls were in one car and the boys were in another car.

On that trip, Aurora, Marcelle and | built a fairy house (a small house you find in
the woods that is made out of nature) in the woods near Marcelle’s mom’s house. | don’t
know exactly what time of year it was but it was long sleeves weather. We started out
just walking in the woods and then the girls decided to build a fairy house. It was the
first time Aurora and | made a fairy house and we were very excited. We picked a tree
that we would build the fairy house in front of then we gathered sticks, stones, leaves
and flowers. After we gathered everything, we sat in front of the tree and made the fairy
house on top of some moss at the base of the tree. The fairy house had a stone
walkway with flowers, sides made of sticks with red, yellow, orange, pink and green
leaves on top of the sticks for the roof and sides. With an evergreen leaf for the door,
the fairy house was about 2ft tall and when we finished making it Marcelle took a picture
of Aurora on the left and me on the right of the fairy house. The picture is on
Facebook!!! Meanwhile, while us girls were making the fairy house, Nat, Billy and Darius
made a fort out of wood and sticks in front of a tree near our fairy house.

In APFP times | got really into YouTube!!! When | was eleven, | made my
YouTube channel (supershines12) and everyone in APFP were in most of my videos.
Also, Nat and | were in a lot of each other’s videos and | did a lot of sleepovers at his

house.
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In APFP times when | was twelve, | wanted to try public school for the first time
and | tried to get into the elementary school in Eatontown where Grandma Anne (Dad'’s
mom) lived but they said | was too old and too smart so they made me go to the middle
school. So, | tried middle school for two half days and lived at Grandma’s for those days
because the school system is better in Eatontown then in Asbury Park. | quit because it
was too overwhelming. It felt like two full days without lunch and | was afraid to go to the
bathroom because | was scared that | would get lost and or be late to my next class and
get detention. When | tried middle school, my friends Aurora and Maya (who have also
never been to public school before college) bet each other on how long | would last in
middle school and Maya won. Aurora thought | would last a week.

Bubbles died on Teusday June 11", 2013, shortly after | had broken up with my
boyfriend Griffin. Although the loss was hard, Bubbles health had been declining for a
few years. In that time, | had become more and more resentful towards her so losing
her wasn’t as hard for me as it could have been. | wrote a song about losing Bubbles
and breaking up with Griffin called “My Life Is Free” but it doesn’t talk much about loss
and break up. A little while after Bubbles died | did a sleepover at Darius and Aurora’s
and | wrote the lyrics to “My Life Is Free.” | could write about that better now but when |
wrote the song | was trying to lift myself up that’s why there isn’t much about those
things in the song.

On Saturday November 30" 2013, two days before my fourteenth birthday, we
had to put Chelsea down which was hard for me because she was the first pet | really

remember having. We had two cats (Otelia and Vision) when | was born but they died
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when | was four and | don’t really remember them. The day we put Chelsea down, my
parents took Aurora and me to see Frozen that night and Aurora slept over.

When | was growing up | did a lot of sleepovers at Grandma Anne’s house. It
was really fun and we watched shows that | liked together. She really liked the Disney
show Phineas and Ferb but she could never remember what it was called so she called
it “Triangle head and his brother.” When | did sleepovers there, | would usually play with
Magnetics and sometimes | would bring Perler Beads. Perler beads are little beads that
you put on pegboards and then iron to fuse them together into whatever pattern you’ve
created. | used to do Perler Beads pretty much 24/7 until | started going to Brookdale.

From 2012-2015 | took Aikido with my friend Natalya. Natalya is a homeschooler
friend of mine that I've known for a long time who lives in Red Bank. If you’ve ever seen
the Mystery Machine parked in front of a house in Red Bank, that’s her house. Aikido is
a martial art where you learn to defend yourself without hurting yourself or the other
person.

Natalya and | would do sleepovers at each other’s houses on Aikido nights
almost every week!!! My parents would take turns driving and we would pick up Natalya
from her house on the way to Aikido in Middletown. After Aikido, our parents would take
turns picking us up depending on whose house we were staying at that night.
Sometimes one of her parents would pick us up from Aikido and bring me to her house
where | would hangout for a while until one of my parents picked me up.

Sometimes after Aikido we would stay at my Grandma’s house. We stayed there

so much that Grandma Anne was like a third Grandma to Natalya and Natalya would
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say that she has three Grandma Anne’s because both of her Grandma’s are named
Anne.

My favorite show of all time is The Backyardigans!!! I love that show so much that
| call myself The Backyardigans encyclopedia. At one point when Natalya and | were
hanging out and doing sleepovers every week, we started writing our own version of
The Backyardigans called The Mouse Masters. The Mouse Masters is geared towards
teenagers because almost all of the characters are couples and there are characters in
the LGBTQ+ community. There are twelve characters and most ot them use a magic
mouse backpack to go on adventures. One of the characters is a fairy (who is one of my
two alter egos). The other characters are animals. The similarities to The Backyardigans
are that some of the characters live next to each other with a combined backyard. Both
shows have characters that are animals who use their imagination to go on adventures.
I'm still working on The Mouse Masters but | need to find more cast members again and
| need to find an animator before | can make the show and make a YouTube channel for
it.

During some of the sleepovers, we would make YouTube videos together and we
decided to do the Ice Cream Social at my church together one year. Two of Natalya’s
sisters Katya and Nyree also did the Ice Cream Social that year.

Natalya and | practiced for the Ice Cream Social at my house or at Grandma'’s
house during our weekly sleepovers. Natalya plays the Violin; | play the Piano and we
both sing. For the Ice Cream Social we did a medley of “Clementine,” “I've Been

Working On The Railroad” and “Oh Susanna.”
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On Friday September 24t 2015, | had my last sleepover at Grandma'’s. It started
out as a normal sleepover and things were great but when | woke up the next day |
heard Grandma complaining to her caretaker Nora about a leg pain. The pain got really
bad so Grandma went to the hospital and kept declining. On Saturday September 26t
2015, Grandma Anne died. Mom was on her way to visit aunt Hunt in Maine and Dad
was at the hospital so Megan, my homeschooler friend Honorah’s mom picked me up
and drove me to the hospital. When we got there, Dad met us outside. Then, Dad and |
went up to see Grandma but when we got to her room it was too late. Losing Grandma
Anne was the first hardest loss for me.

At one point in 2013 or 2014, Griffin liked Natalya but she didn’t like him back.
Our friend Idil took Natalya’s phone when they were hanging out one day and set
Natalya and Griffin up on a date. When Natalya and | did our weekly sleepover after the
“date set up”, she told me what Idil did and asked me to make sure the date didn’t
happen because she didn’t want to date anyone and she only liked anime characters.
When we got to my room that night, I called Griffin and told him that Natalya just wanted
to be friends and that she only liked anime characters. This made Griffin scared of
Natalya because he doesn’t like anime.

A little bit later Griffin liked Idil and called me and he asked, “Is it ok if Idil and |
come to your Halloween party as each other’s dates?”

| said, “Sure that’s cool.” Then | called Idil

and she said, “| don’t know him that well but if he wants to call it a date that’s ok.”

| felt really bad for Idil that night because Griffin kept trying to hold her hand and

kiss her.
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At one point that night a bunch of us were hanging out on my trampoline and |
said to Griffin, “I'm glad you asked for my permission to have Idil be your date because
in a fake family Idil is my daughter.” He was a little scared of us after that.

One day in 2015 at 4-H Club da Vinci Griffin showed up and we talked for a
while. While we were talking | told him that | had a signifficant other for 2 weeks that
summer

and he said/asked, “Oh so you're gay?”

| said, “No I'm bi.”

Then he asked, “What does that mean?”

So | said, “It means you like both boys and girls.”

He then acted as though he understood but he didn’t because he kept asking me
what bi meant. Then some of the others came over to join the conversation and we had
to explain; Bi, Transgender and Asexual to him because Max is transgender and his
sister Abby is asexual. Also, Griffin only knew gay and straight. He did not come back to
4-H after that.

PLC stands for Princeton Learning Cooperative and it's a co-op for
homeschoolers that meets in the basement of All Saints Church in Princeton. Nat told
Darius, Aurora, Maya and me about PLC because he moved to Princeton with his mom
Marcelle and his stepdad Billy so he could go to PLC. | went to PLC for a year and a
half from 2016-2018 when | was sixteen-eighteen years old; | tried it out in December of
2016 and officially started in January of 2017. PLC offers a variety of classes and you

decide which classes you want to take; you have a mentor who is one of the four main

25



staff members who helps you with a class when you need help and you talk to them
once a week about how your classes are going.

During PLC times, Dad volunteered at PLC teaching guitar. He also taught me
the ukulele. He stopped volunteering when | finished going to PLC.

On Thursday September 215t 2017, the day after | became the president of God
Squad during my last year of High School at PLC, there was a litter of five kittens in the
kitchen at All Saints Church. A woman who works at the church told the leaders of PLC
that there are five black and sable kittens up for free adoption and | got one! Her name
is Snowflake!

Every spring there is a Homeschool Prom in Point Pleasant for ages thirteen to
nineteen. In 2016, some of my friends and | from PLC, APFP and Homeschooling in
general started going to the prom. 2019 was the last year | went to Homeschool Prom.
The fun thing about Homeschool Prom is that you can go with a date, one friend or a
group of friends. You can bring a friend who goes to public school. I’'m going to try to be
a chaperone when the pandemic is over.

One thing I've learned throughout my years of Homeschooling/Unschooling is
that almost all of the Homseschoolers/Unschoolers who | know, are in the LGBT+

community.
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Coming Out

Hi, my name is Parlin. I'm twenty-one and I'm an asexual lesbian.

At first when | was young, | thought | was straight. When | was eleven, that all
changed. My friends and | started talking about our sexualities, which got me thinking a
lot about my sexuality. As | thought more about it, | came out as bi to some of my
friends.

When | was thirteen, | had a boyfriend Griffin, which lasted for three months. |
broke up with him because he was afraid to kiss. Also, whenever | would go in to hold
his hand, | felt like he was thinking: "oh yeah we're supposed to do this." | still kept
thinking do | like boys or girls or both?

When | was fourteen, | asked my friend Shannon out via text on our way home
from the fall retreat that God Squad, the high school youth group at my church, goes on.
| got rejected. Also, Shannon told her mom and our youth group leaders.

A week later on Sunday, Elaine my Sunday school teacher had me stay back at
the end of Sunday school. When everyone else left, Elaine walked over, brought a chair
and sat in front of me. Then Elaine said, "I heard that you asked Shannon out and got
rejected.”

| looked at her and said, "Yeah."

Then Elaine said, “I'm sorry you got rejected.” and asked, “Are you bi?”

| answered, "Yes." While we kept talking, | looked down, then at the door behind
her but was still paying attention and was looking in her general direction.

Then Elaine asked, "Have you told your mommy yet?"
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| shrugged and answered, "No, I'm not ready"

then Elaine encouraged and informed me, "You have to tell your mommy that
you're bi."

and | said, "Ok." But | wasn’t really ready.

After that, Elaine asked, "Do you want me to be there when you tell your mommy
that you're bi?"

and | said: "No." Because that conversation should be private. | was surprised
she asked me that. Then | grabbed my pocketbook, she grabbed her things and we
went to Fellowship Hall for coffee hour. After coffee hour, Mom and | and maybe Dad (|
can’'t remember if Dad was there that day) went home.

After church that day when we got home, Mom and | went into the kitchen
and | told her that | was bi.

Then Mom asked, "Do you know what that means?"

| answered, "It means you want to date both boys and girls."

and Mom said, "No it means you want to have sex with both boys and girls."

So | said, "Ok then I'm bi romantic.”

then Mom said, "You know, you don't have to use labels."

and | said, "I know but | want to."

Then Mom said, "Ok cool.”

When | was fifthteen, | had a signifficant other Fion for two weeks. They broke up
with me on our first date. After that, | kept thinking and thinking and thinking, what do |

like, who do I like, what gender do | like?
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When | was seventeen, | couldn't stop thinking about it. Then on June 20t
2017, as | kept thinking and thinking, | finally realized I like girls not guys. | like GIRLS!!!
That night | came out as lesbian to my friend Kaitlyn. Then, | came out to a lot of my
friends and family, who were all accepting.

However, when | told my parents they said: "we accept you but we don't think
you should settle down on a label. We think you should expand your horizons and
should keep exploring your possibilities. In the future if this is what you end up being,
then we will accept you"

Since 2018, Dad has been totally accepting. Mom has been accepting since
2019 but we didn’t talk about much at first.

In LGBT+ Club at Brookdale, | learned that bisexual is an umbrella term and that
there are two types of bi. There is bisexual which means you are sexually attracted to
roughly two genders; it can be any two-ish genders. Also, it doesn’t have to be two.
There is also bi-romantic where you are romantically attracted to roughly two genders.

Fion and Griffin go to Brookdale. I'm still close friends with Fion and |

occasionally see Griffin on campus.

29



Theatre

When | was eight, | took my first acting class at Algonquin Arts Theatre in
Manasquan. In the class, we wrote a play with a song in it and at the end of the seven
week class we performed the play for our families. The teacher was my neighbor and
friend Bill.

When | was ten, | took ballet to be like my god sister Ella. At first | liked it but then
| started getting bored and wanted to quit. My parents made me stick it out and do the
recital before | quit. So, | did the recital but hated having to wear so much makeup and
puting my hair in a bun. | never liked wearing makeup anyway and the bun really hurt.

When | was fifthteen, | took a musical theater class at Count Basie Theatre in
Red Bank. | was the oldest student. It turned out to be a singing class and was very fun.
At the same time, | took a musical theater class at Algonquin and the classes had their
final performances for our families around the same week in December 2015. | was
sixteen when these classes had their final performances.

In the spring of 2016, | took an auditioning class at Algonquin and | was the
oldest in the class. | became friends with a boy named CJ and the teacher Dan. One
night in class when Dan had finished giving CJ notes, he looked down and tried writing
something but his pen wasn’t working. He jokingly blamed me, so | said: “| guess | have
magical pen breaking powers just by looking at the person who is holding the pen.”
Then Dan gave me the nickname Notorious PSG (Parlin Scott Gressitt), based off of
Notorious BIG and Notorious RBG. Dan also teaches at Actors Playground School of

Theatre in Freehold and is one of the people who got me interested in going there.
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During my time in Dan’s class, | started going to Teen Night which is a free
improv class on select Friday nights at Algonquin. It was one the best decisions I've
ever made!!! CJ also started going to Teen Night and we’ve been going ever since. On
select Teen Nights, we get to see the current Algonquin show for free.

| tried Teen Night when | was thirteen but didn’t like it because | only knew three
people. | tried it again when | was sixteen and loved it. | became an assistant teacher in
Teen Night when | aged out of the class.

In the summer of 2016, | started doing musical theater camp at Algonquin.
Musical theater camp is a two week summer camp where there are two age groups; Six-
ten and eleven-nineteen. There are four teachers and some teenagers get to be interns.
The dance and music teachers are the same for both groups and the acting teachers
are different. There is one acting teacher per group. Both groups put on some scenes
and songs from a musical that the acting teacher chooses. The groups always do
different musicals. Also, both groups do different musicals each year. At the end of the
two weeks, the groups perform for their friends and family and the other group. The
younger group goes first then the older group follows. The music teacher Mr. O. was
one of my teachers in the musical theater class | took at Algonquin in 2015. My first year
| was just a camper but the next three years after that | was a camper and an intern.
The acting teacher for the older kids my first three years was Megan Donovan. She also
teaches at Actors Playground and is the other person who got me interested in going
there. In my last year as a camper in musical theater camp, the acting teacher for the

older kids was Anthony. He is also one of the teachers for Teen Night.
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In the fall of 2016, | started going to Actors Playground in the Saturday class and
it was the best decision I've ever made!!! When | started taking the Saturday class, Dan,
Megan and Ralph (the owner) were my teachers. In 2018, Dan and Megan stopped
teaching the Saturday class because Megan as well as Dan’s wife Becky (the writing
teacher at Actors Playground), were both pregnant. So, Ralph and Rich are currently
the teachers for the Saturday class.

In the fall of 2019, | started volunteering at Algonquin and | can’t wait to go back.
| was an usher/greeter and | would help at the concession stand during intermission.
Also, they let the volunteers watch the shows.

I’'m still taking classes at Actors Playground but I’'m too old for the Saturday class.
Last spring was supposed to be my last semester in that class, but then the pandemic
started. So, who knows, maybe when the pandemic is over, Ralph will let me finish the
full school year in the Saturday class and then | will move up to the adult class. During
the pandemic | have been able to take three classes per week on Zoom which has been
really fun and great!!!

From ages ten through present | have auditioned at Algonquin, Actors
Playground, Count Basie and Brick Children’s Community Theatre (BCCT) but | didn’t
get into anything until | was eighteen.

When | was eighteen, | did Godspell in Ocean Grove at the youth temple through
Ocean Grove Teen Show which is a group that does a musical every summer. When
you sign up you’re automatically in the show and you audition for specific parts. If you
don’t get cast as a lead, you get cast as an ensemble character. | did Teen Show in

2018 and 2019 and | was in the ensemble both years.
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In November of 2019, | was in Algonquin: The Musical at Algonquin, which is a
musical filled with songs and scenes from various shows as well as scenes used to
inform the audience about classes that Algonquin offers. To be in Algonquin: The
Musical, you need to get invited. It was such a fun and great show. | was in a few of the
songs and a scene with Anthony and Nicole who teach Teen Night. | got to explain to
the audience how much fun Teen Night is and that you can do it even if you have
cognitive issues and improv is hard for you. I'm a concrete thinker so improv is hard for
me but | keep working on it and I’'m getting better at it. Also, we did an improv scene
with a random member from the audience and had other random members of the

audience pick a location and an activity for us to use in the scene.

33



Epilogue

Thanks to the pediatric cardiology department at Mount Sinai | am alive and well.
| have been blessed with many wonderful opportunities and experiences as well as
some bad experiences that have helped shape me into the twenty-one year old girl

writing this memoir. This isn’t the end of my story, this is just the end of this memoir and

I’m going to write another memoir soon.
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